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1. Patagonia


A Landing


December. Three in the morning. The plane shud­dered down through the tur­bu­lence in the low cumulus and banked. The most south­erly town on Argentina’s main­land came up out of the black: Rio Gallegos. The plane abruptly fell another three hundred feet and I could see down the narrow aisle and over the pilot’s shoul­der, and watch the earth saucer back and forth, trying to dodge our out­stretched wheels. In all the earth this was the last con­ti­nen­tal land which mankind reached. In Central Africa tool-making early humans roamed the plains 2.5 million years ago but there is no evi­dence of people here on the tip of South America until twelve thou­sand years ago.


Studying the street maps in the guide it was easy to forget which town I was looking at, each bright grid­i­ron named after the stan­dard set of gen­er­als. In Argentina they are San Martín, Roca, Belgrano; in Chile, O’Higgins, Prat, Montt. The orange-lit lines of dead heroes tilted and came to meet us.


I asked the taxi driver to find a mid-price hotel. He said, ‘No problem.’ The Punta Arenas, no vacan­cies. Further down the street, the Liporace sounded and looked like a skin com­plaint. The taxi driver pounded the locked door. Red light was making weak rents in the eastern sky, four mon­grels besieged a cat in a small tree. A man appeared and talked to the driver, shaking his head. The driver came back, ‘The town is full. The hotel is full.’


When a hotel named after a skin disease has no empty beds, I can believe the town is full.


The pave­ments were broken, and sheets of water lay in the road. We did the rounds. Sleepy faces came to doors, tired bodies leaned on the jamb. They shook their heads and cut their hands hor­i­zon­tally across each other. At the Laguna, a stooped thin man with a ten-month-old haircut and a pensioner’s car­di­gan declaimed ‘No room’ as if there was surely a Second Coming and anyone with a stable should clean out the manger.


‘I know another place!’ the driver exclaimed.


The Colonial was pink low con­crete. It had two doors; no one answered either. The driver said, ‘I am sorry, this never hap­pened before. I’ll stop the meter.’ The street was nearly light.


‘If I find some­where now, will they charge me for tonight?’


‘They charge eight to eight, if you book in at five to eight you pay for the night’s sleep you just missed.’


‘Take me to a café, the one we passed at the cross­roads in the centre.’


The Monaco was at the inter­sec­tion of two heavy­weight gen­er­als, Roca and San Martín. It was glass-walled and brightly lit, open twenty-four hours. A third of the tables were taken, many by couples winding up the evening, talking quietly. I drank large milk coffees. ‘Nothing to eat, sir?’


I had been awake forty-eight hours and three time zones. So tired I no longer knew if I was hungry.


‘Nothing to eat.’


The dawn began to fix the street in place, like a photo­graph being devel­oped. People drifted away, the rest were drunk, quietly and gently drunk. A tired waiter broke a glass and smiled rue­fully at the applause. Everyone took turns at looking at me, the only sober cus­tomer, the only non-smoker, the only person alone. Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid once held up the bank here. When the shops opened, I would buy a Colt 45 and free up some hotel beds.


Sometime after six I walked to the estuary, past the build­ing des­ig­nated an his­toric mon­u­ment to record the visit of the first pres­i­dent to come to Rio Gallegos: Julio Roca. He spoke from a balcony and urged immi­grants to pop­u­late the south and exploit the wealth of the Magellan Straits. The his­toric mon­u­ment is a wooden balcony hanging cock-eyed from a big shed. I am sorry, but it is. The shore was a con­crete espla­nade, grey and per­spec­tive­less as child­hood. A red bal­us­trade. The sea wall dropped ten feet to shingle, which shelved to sharp-smelling mud that glued down flimsy super­mar­ket bags. Pigeons and gulls pecked a path across the mud. The water of the mile-wide estuary lay pol­ished, ceramic. I was looking north; low flat-topped hills on the farther shore hinted at the majes­tic monot­ony of the plains which went north, horizon after horizon. This was the last country man found, this strand, this hill, the sky shining like wet paint; the dust already stick­ing to the fresh wax on my boots was made from flecks of legend. This was Patagonia.


Patagonia! The origin of the word, still a byword for being off the beaten track, has been much argued over. The Oxford English Dictionary, which has time to rumi­nate on these things, is content that there is a Spanish word patagon meaning a large clumsy foot, and that it derives from large clumsy shoes worn by natives. Spanish regional dialects still use pat­a­cones for big-pawed dogs, and the depth of the foot­prints the dancing natives made in the sand was remarked on by the first visitor, Magellan.


A second theory involves the Incas, who explored the Andes a long way south of the ter­ri­tory they for­mally con­quered. Their empire was not ancient. In 1532, when Pizarro rode his horse through its golden halls, the realm was little more than a hundred years old. In the Incan lan­guage, Quechua, the south was called Patac-Hunia, or moun­tain regions, and as Spanish does not pro­nounce ‘h’ the sound is very close to Patagonia. But why would men from an empire of the high Andes describe the lesser peaks of the south as moun­tain regions?


Bruce Chatwin was tipped off by Professor González Díaz that Tehuelche Indians wore dog-faced masks, and Magellan might have nick­named them after a char­ac­ter in a novel called Primalon of Greece which fea­tures a dog-eared monster called Patagon. It is an anon­y­mous romance pub­lished in Spain in 1512 and translated into English by Anthony Mundy in 1596. As an aside, Mundy was a friend of Shakespeare, who would soon after have Trinculo say of Caliban, in The Tempest, ‘I shall laugh myself to death at this puppy-headed monster.’


Three flaws are appar­ent in the theory. Firstly, who names lands after novels? Secondly, it seems incred­ible that rough and ready adven­tur­ers would pause in their jour­neys on the edge of the unknown to make lit­er­ary allu­sions; and thirdly, there isn’t a shred of evi­dence that Magellan knew of the book.


But California is named after an island in a novel. Hernando Cortés sailed up the Gulf of California believ­ing the land on his left was an island, not a penin­sula, and named it after an island called California in the tale The Adventures of Esplandián, written by Garcí Ordóñez de Montalvo in 1510.


Secondly, as Bernal Díaz records, when his men walked a cause­way into Mexico City in 1520, they ‘said that it seemed like one of those enchanted things which are told about in the book of Amadís’. The chiv­al­ric fantasy Amadís of Gaul was one of the real books which Cervantes slipped into the library of Don Quixote; lit­er­ate sol­diers carried them round in the same way that GIs carry comics.


Finally, Magellan could perhaps have known about Primalon of Greece. It was pub­lished seven years before Magellan sailed, and he spent a lot of time at court where such books were read by the chat­ter­ing classes of the day. There are many odd the­o­ries about the origin of the name of the strange land of Patagonia; perhaps the oddest one is true.


In the dead of early morning the town was dread­ful. Although a lot of money was made here in the live­stock indus­tries, it did not stay. The moneyed fam­i­lies built their belle époque man­sions to the south, around Plaza Muñoz Gamero in Punta Arenas, import­ing every­thing from Europe, from the art to the archi­tect. Here in Rio Gallegos, the post office and one res­tau­rant excepted, there was no build­ing in the whole centre worth a minute’s pause. All the taw­dri­ness of a dead-end town with none of the excuses. Desperate for sleep, and groggy with lack of food, I bought cakes and savour­ies at a baker’s and walked past the pink Colonial Hotel once again. A young back­packer came out of it and climbed into a taxi. A bed.


The land­lady asked me to wait ten minutes while she changed the sheets. When she had finished, I sat on the bed and took out a cheese and ham crois­sant. Under the cling film it had looked quite brave. Naked, the ingre­dients looked like naïve patri­otic things which, in a rush of enthu­siasm, had signed up as food but, on reflection, had real­ised their utter unsuit­abil­ity for the task ahead. Tasted as seen.


The room was the size of a prison cell but without the amen­ities. No ward­robe no chest of drawers no table no toilet no basin no water no glass no carpet no rug no cur­tains no view. No matter, it had a bed, and a little gap down one side of it to get in and out. I walked to the bath­room in bare feet, looked inside, and went back for my boots.


What was I doing here?


Rainy Childhood Days





Voyages begin in books. Mine started with rainy child­hood days and a house with one coal fire in the front room of our council house, near the Liverpool FC train­ing ground. Wooden window frames with cold panes and tiny petals of orange mould in the corners. Knot resin weeping, pushing paint into blis­ters. A finger on the glass made two beads run together and zigzag down the glass col­lect­ing others, like che­quers. My breath fogged the game.


We were three boys, I was in the middle. The first adult novel I read was Robinson Crusoe, when I was still small enough to curl up entirely inside the wooden arms of my mother’s tiny arm­chair. At that time the only sea I knew was the brown of the Mersey and the racing tides of the Wirral’s flat, estu­a­rine resorts. I pored silently over the water­colour illus­tra­tions of palms and blue hori­zons, then took a red spade to dig my own fort in the back garden.


One damp Sunday I sat cross-legged in front of an oak utility fur­ni­ture book­case. ‘Da-aad,’ I driz­zled, ‘what would I like to read?’ He tapped his faintly nic­o­tined fingers on a green book spine, Percy Harrison Fawcett’s Exploration Fawcett.


‘Read this, he is a Harrison,’ he said.


‘Is he a rel­a­tive?’


He looked out of the window at the rain, falling on the split paling fence. There was no pros­pect of going out. ‘Yes.’


I pulled out the book. In the front was a picture of a frown­ing man sport­ing a hip-length jacket and riding boots, and leaning on a wooden balcony. His pro­pel­ler mous­tache waited for a batman to swing it into motion. The chapter titles called to me: The Lost Mines of Muribeca, Rubber Boom, River of Evil, Poisoned Hell, and The Veil of the Primaeval. I strode into the book and came out two days later.


Percy Fawcett made impos­sible jour­neys into the inter­ior of the great­est South American jungles, again and again. He walked the fron­tiers of Bolivia to map them. Maps were crucial; without them the rubber barons would not know whose country they were robbing. He was in the inter­ior most of the years from 1906 to 1913 and met travel­lers who had seen potions which made rock soften so it could be cut in the butter-smooth joints of the earthquake-proof Incan cities.


I swal­lowed tales of men who fell out of canoes in piranha-filled rivers, clung to the stern, and were removed at the river bank, skele­tons from the waist down. They were killed by ana­con­das, poi­son­ous spiders, flesh-rotting dis­eases and the cat o’ nine tails. They were sold to pay their own debts. Rubber mag­nates living on the world’s great­est flow of fresh water sent their laundry to Paris and con­structed an opera house for Caruso, who came and anchored mid-river off Manaus. A cholera epi­demic raged. Caruso walked the decks, and received the daily lists of the dead. Contracts beck­oned, time ran out, he went home. Outside the opera house, the curved twin stair­cases leading up to the clas­si­cal mez­za­nine were cleared of cholera victims each day. Dust motes descended shafts of light in the silent theatre.


The book was drafted in note form by Fawcett in 1923. There remained one dream, his search for the lost city of João da Silva Guimarões. In 1743 Guimarões had been hunting only for lost mines. A negro in his party had chased a white stag to the summit of a moun­tain pass. Below, on a plain, was a city of some sort. Next day they entered through three arches, so tall that no one could read the inscrip­tions above them. A broad street led them to a plaza. At each corner was a black obelisk. In the centre rose a colos­sal column of black stone on which was a statue of a man point­ing to the north. The entire city was deserted except for a cloud of huge bats. Nearby they found silver nails lying in the dirt of caverns, and gold dust in the streams.


By 1925 Fawcett, dis­cou­raged by his failure to find men of his own invul­ner­abil­ity to hard­ship and disease, went out aged 57 with his inex­pe­ri­enced son Jack, and Jack’s friend Raleigh Rimmel, on one last search for the lost city of Guimarões. Fawcett’s last letter to his wife in England read, ‘you need have no fear of failure’. They were never heard of again. His sur­viv­ing son Brian put together the book from his father’s notes and pub­lished it in 1953.


On another, inter­min­able, wet after­noon in the school hol­i­days, I opened a black book of nar­ra­tive poetry and read The Rime of the Ancient Mariner. The pro­logue begins: ‘How a ship having passed the Line was driven by storms to the cold Country towards the South Pole.’


‘Are there any others like that one?’ I asked my father, when the other poems in the col­lec­tion bored me. Thirty-five years on I know the answer.


In my teens I painted, again and again, the spars of the Mariner’s un-named ship against livid skies. We moved to Falmouth in Cornwall, where I watched Robin Knox-Johnson tack Suhaili into the harbour and com­plete the first single-handed non-stop round-the-world voyage. It had begun as a race; he won it by being the only sur­vi­vor.


I left Falmouth Grammar School, and went up to Jesus College, Cambridge to read geog­ra­phy. On the walls of the med­ie­val dining hall were por­traits of former schol­ars. Beneath them, Mr West, the Head Porter with the cut of W. C. Fields in his flesh and clothes, lec­tured us on the evils of for­ni­ca­tion and drugs. He did not seem heavily scarred by either. Thomas Malthus, author of the essay on pop­u­la­tion, looked over our heads. Coleridge, opium addict, stared down with great baleful eyes. He had written home, ‘There is no such thing as dis­ci­pline at our College.’ That winter I dis­cov­ered a reprint of Gustav Doré’s fab­u­lous engrav­ings for the Ancient Mariner. In 1978 I read Chatwin’s In Patagonia and, looking at atlases, my eyes began to fall south.


In Hay-on-Wye I was trawl­ing the second-hand book­shops for ­material on Chile, when I found a hank of pages without a cover, which had fallen down the back of the other books. I pulled it out: An Historical Relation of the Kingdom of Chile by Alonso de Ovalle, a Jesuit. It had been torn from a larger volume. Although in English, the cover said it was printed in Rome in 1649. It was in such good con­di­tion I assumed it was a repro­duc­tion. The pages were fresh and white, they were flexible and clean. I bought it and took it round the corner to book­binder Christine Turnbull. A gravel path led me down an avenue of lav­en­der to her cottage work­shop. She looked quietly over it and com­pared the paper with samples from her cab­i­nets. She stroked her fingers down the spine. ‘The first English text was published in 1703. It should be full leather’


‘Then I'll have full leather!’


Alonso’s report is the first English account of Chile. It was dyna­mite in its day. The English trans­la­tor confided that it ‘con­tains secrets of com­merce and nav­i­ga­tion, which I wonder how they were published’. Ovalle advised spec­u­la­tors that a man with 40,000 crowns to invest, includ­ing in slaves, might earn a twenty-five per cent return ‘very lawful, and without any trouble to one’s conscience.’


I then found Lucas Bridges’s book on growing up in Tierra del Fuego as the son of the first suc­cess­ful mis­sion­ary, Thomas Bridges. After a few chap­ters I knew I would visit Ushuaia and the bare savage islands of the far south. My great-grandfather had sailed there before the mast on the great square-riggers. My grand­father Thomas Harrison, born in 1896, sailed the Horn in steam and diesel, plying the last of the ‘WCSA’ (West Coast of South America) trade out of Liverpool. I was the first gen­er­a­tion not to sail the Horn or fight a war. Instead, I would go to the end of the world, beyond Patagonia, to Tierra del Fuego. I would do more, I would see the Horn and find lost tribes. The child in me could go even further and sail the waters of Coleridge’s alba­tross and enter the watercolours’ blue hori­zons and sit on Crusoe’s imag­i­nary shore. I had ima­gined these places; they must exist. All I had to do was look for them.


Rio Gallegos





By lunch­time I had slept four hours and woken too excited to stay in bed. I went out to look at the town with fresh eyes. I would like to say it helped.


Rio Gallegos was named after the river it stood on, but no one knows where the river got its name. One of the ear­li­est houses belonged to a Doctor Victor Fenton. It was made in the Falklands from a design in an English cat­a­logue, and shipped here, perhaps as early as 1890. It was here before the town, which grew around it during the fol­low­ing fifteen years. It is a two-storey wooden dormer with a long sun lounge running across the whole front. In 1915 it passed into the Parisi family. Señor Parisi’s wife was Maria Catalina. She was born one cold snowy August morning in 1860, in her family’s toldo or skin tent. They were Tehuelche pampas Indians and lived by hunting with the bolas. She had five daugh­ters and three sons who sur­vived to adult­hood. All her life she made a living by native tra­di­tional crafts, making guanaco capes, sewing the skins together using the veins of ostriches. Her favour­ite food was mare’s meat with ostrich.


The house is now a museum. The stove has not moved in sixty years; some fur­ni­ture came from other early houses. The study had three old Remington type­writ­ers. In the lounge a colos­sal Canadian Victrolla brought over in 1904 played a fine tango on a paste 78. In the kitchen was a washing-machine, hand-cranked and looking like a butter churn with wring­ers above it. But I was more taken with the story of Maria Catalina. Most of her chil­dren would still be alive. I talked to Señora McDonald, now retired, whose Scottish father had come to Patagonia and married a Spanish woman. She spoke English with a strange rural Scots edge to it.


‘Are any of Maria Catalina’s chil­dren still alive?’


She thought for a moment. ‘One of the sons, Roberto, lives a few streets away.’


‘Is he the kind of man who would mind me calling in for a chat?’


‘No, not nor­mally, but his wife died of cancer two days ago.’





This was the dry season; it never rains here in December. But every few hours the rain lashed down like cold nails. People shook their heads and said ‘El Niño’. I walked round Rio Gallegos once more and decided to leave. My journey was planned to follow a V shape, moving south to Tierra del Fuego, as far as I could go down the east coast, then to turn north up the west coast. But first I had to back­track north a short way, to Puerto San Julián. I was sure it would now be a dull town, but I wanted to see it, because it was the scene of treason, blood­shed and exe­cu­tions where tragedy was fol­lowed by farce. It was the launch­pad for the first two circum­nav­i­ga­tions of the world, by Magellan, then Drake. And, of course, Magellan and Drake both met and talked to giants so tall the sailors could not touch the tops of their heads.








Puerto San Julián





The bus making the five-hour trip to Puerto San Julián left at half three in the after­noon. This time I rang ahead to book; there were no medium-price hotels. I thought about going to the bath­room in my boots, and booked the one up-market hotel, the Bahía San Julián.


At the travel agents I got on the bus. Everyone else was being picked up from home. Many had been Christmas shop­ping in Rio Gallegos, and waded on board fes­tooned with bags and boxes. Every seat was filled. When we even­tu­ally left town an hour later, the only place left to put my legs was in the aisle. We pulled in at the airport. The driver col­lected eight large plastic packing boxes and filled the aisle.


The land­scape was the colour of burnt grass, stony, empty and huge. The road appeared flat, but was not. After a while the eye learned to see the slight turns, the subtle rises and falls. There were hidden dips betrayed by the road shim­mer­ing as a grey soft-edged lens in the air above them. One of the few towns we passed through was named after an early admin­is­tra­tor, his whole name: Comandante Luis Pedra Buena! A mid-stream island was wan­tonly green with trees and flower meadows. Then we entered the great basin where the land falls to one hundred metres below sea level, the lowest in all Argentina. The sun dropped, the dry grass colour turned corn gold and then red gold.


At ten-thirty we rolled into the unmade streets of Puerto San Julián, veering all over the road looking for pur­chase in the mud. The driver began drop­ping people off, picking out places where they would not drown walking to the kerb. Eleven o’clock came. He pulled out onto a well-lit dual car­ri­age­way, and pointed at me. There stood my brand new hotel. I walked self-consciously onto the thick blue carpets, staring after me to see how much mud I was trail­ing. A large bar sup­ported two drink­ers watch­ing foot­ball on the tele­vi­sion. The smart recep­tion­ist showed me to my room. It looked as though I was the first person ever to stay in it.


‘How long have you been open?’


‘Not long, two years.’


Early photo­graphs of the town, lining the hotel cor­ri­dors, had a strange bare quality to them, like a town in a child’s dream: big simple build­ings, one car, one house, one dog. A single steamer stood at a short pier. Thousands of sheep trotted across an empty square and through a wooden V onto a gang­plank and into the hold. One man, sta­tion­ary on a horse, watched over them. Clutter, the detail that makes life real, had not arrived.


Morning was over­cast. I walked down the road at the side of the hotel to see the south end of the bay. Above the high-tide mark was a zone of grassy flats criss-crossed by chan­nels. The bay’s circle was wide; low hills came down to grey sandy cliffs. The water was milky blue from fine sed­i­ment. As I descended the hill I left the grid­i­ron, the invader’s geom­e­try, and entered a barrio of make­shift houses that fol­lowed the streams and con­tours, respond­ing to the land. Each rested at the size it had reached when money ran out. Tiny birds fol­lowed me through the scrub, keeping level or just behind. They were rufous-backed negri­tos, the females dun, the males a shimmer of red-brown and shining blue-black. Perhaps they follow people because we disturb insects for them to feed on, but nobody really knows.


Mongrels, long-haired golden mon­grels, squealed and twisted on thin rope tethers, their anguished yelps squeezed from far back in the throat. The plaint of the dogs’ barking was blown out to sea by a flat wind. On the wall round the bone-dust sports field lone graffti appealed: ‘Don’t fail me.’


I was walking in the steps of Magellan and Drake, I would also be fol­low­ing in the foot­steps of a more recent buc­ca­neer, the English bandit El Jimmy.








El Jimmy





The writer Herbert Childs came here by boat in the 1930s for his hon­ey­moon. He was search­ing for an English-born gaucho and bandit who wanted his story written – James Radburne, nick­named ‘El Jimmy’.


Wondering if all the tales of rough fron­tier life were true, par­tic­u­larly the casual cut-throat vio­lence of the gauchos, Mr and Mrs Childs reached Puerto San Julián, and went ashore to stretch their legs. They found it dull rather than dan­ger­ous. Coming back to the ships, they shared the ferry with three gauchos in full rodeo dress. Once on board, a police­man steered them towards third class. Another pas­sen­ger came up along­side Childs, ‘They’re going to Rio Gallegos for trial.’


‘What did they do?’


‘They were in a gang. A fourth one took a bribe and betrayed them to the police. They caught him, skinned him alive, and cut all the skin off his face to make him hard to rec­og­nise.’


‘Why aren’t they handcuffed?’


‘They’re no danger to anyone else. They only killed because a friend betrayed them. That’s not murder down here, they’ll get seven years, at most. There’s no point trying to escape and giving the police a chance to shoot you and get a reward – not over a little point of eti­quette.’


In England, when James was seven­teen his father died leaving twelve chil­dren. James did not help his mother’s des­per­ate plight. Instead he turned to poach­ing and had an affair. Gossip led to dis­cov­ery. The girl’s furious mother went to court. The judge was swift to reach a verdict, plainly embar­rassed by the mother’s prin­ci­pal tactic of flourishing the girl’s knick­ers to the court­room. Time to go. A nearby farmer had shares in a farm in Patagonia. Jimmy did not know where Patagonia was, but he went. After a swift passage of twenty-eight days, he stepped ashore in Punta Arenas on 8 December 1892. He was asked the ques­tion all fresh young men from Britain were asked: ‘Was it poach­ing or a girl?’


‘Both.’


Jimmy already had the right cre­den­tials for Patagonia, and he loved the out­doors and the horses, the hunting and camp life. But in a land of murders and thieves, a mere poacher needed to make a name. He made himself the best gaucho, shep­herd, jockey and horse trainer in the dis­trict, and one of the best in the region. To his father’s fist-craft he added a knife and a gun, and his rep­u­ta­tion became an invi­ta­tion for every hard­case in Patagonia to take a pop at him.


One day, when shear­ing finished at the Denmark Estancia, he was kept on for a few weeks to cut fence posts and rails in the woods. He saw some­thing which made him tingle, the toldos, or guanaco skin tents of Tehuelche Indians. Che means ‘people’ and tehuel means ‘of the South’. He was to befriend them and live with them, learn­ing their skill and craft, their soft ways of taming horses. They had no bows or arrows, and hunted with the appar­ently prim­i­tive bolas. But in the tall grass of the pampa, the bolas will reach an animal when a lasso will be smoth­ered by the grass, and an arrow deflected.


Two round stones were sheathed in leather, then bound six feet apart with rawhide. A third, egg-shaped stone was tied by a line to the centre of the first line. The throw com­prised a com­bi­na­tion of hor­i­zon­tal and ver­ti­cal swings to make them fly in a Y shape and wrap the balls round the neck or legs of a horse, guanaco, cow or ostrich. For ostrich and farmed animals, packed gravel would be used instead of stones, so as not to smash the legs. Charles Darwin was given a brief lesson, swung the stones ener­get­i­cally round, and fell pole­axed as they hit him on the back of the head.


Jimmy, prac­ti­cal coun­try­man though he was, could never make a bolas whose balance he liked as much as the Tehuelche-made ones. Whenever there was a serious hunt, he traded other goods for an Indian-made one.


The Tehuelche were so famous for their horse­man­ship that when the St Louis World Fair was held in 1904, the Argentine govern­ment wanted to send six of them to compete in the rodeo events. Baller, the local com­mis­sioner, was not liked. He gave his son the job of taking the party to St Louis. They didn’t like him any better. Young Baller was reduced to picking four men from a group which hap­pened to be camped on his door­step. Coloko was good at balling ostrich; another, Loco, was a good jockey. Casimiro and another old man were regarded as pretty well useless at most things. The Indians who remained said Baller had picked the most useless men, and then the ugliest women to go with them. But when they returned they brought home the prizes for las­soo­ing and riding, beating all the American cowboys and the South American gauchos.


Not all Tehuelche pas­times were so con­struc­tive. One way of killing the time was to catch a vis­ca­cha, a cute animal halfway between a rabbit and a squir­rel, and skin it alive without killing it. Then they would let it loose in a thicket of thorns and bet on how long it would survive. They could not under­stand the set­tlers insist­ing that they stop this harm­less fun. The vis­ca­cha has its own strange hobby – col­lect­ing hard objects of all kinds to adorn the entrance of its burrow. Darwin heard how one man, riding home at night, real­ised he had lost his watch. He went back in the morning and, by search­ing the entrance of every vis­ca­cha burrow along his route, soon found it.


After a day at the races Jimmy was caught with a dud cheque and was impris­oned. He promptly escaped but staying anon­y­mous was hard. If ever he got into a dispute, it only needed someone to find out he was called James. There was no other James in the dis­trict. He was El Jimmy, the bandit, the jail­bird, and the other man had a mark on him. He went native and lived with Chief Mulato in the toldos and fell in love with his daugh­ter Juana. Her father, in a rare drink­ing session, prom­ised her to the winning owner of a horse race Jimmy had set up. The jockey on Jimmy’s horse was Montenegro, a man he had quar­relled with and did not trust, but a natural horse­man. Montenegro threw the race in return for mar­ry­ing Juana. The chief would not go back on his word, drunk or not. Jimmy’s enemy Montenegro rode out with his girl.


Jimmy then lived with another Tehuelche woman. She became preg­nant. Thirty years later he recalled to Herbert Childs the night of the deliv­ery of his first child.


When the time come, I went outside after getting some other chinas (women) to help, telling them to call me if any­thing was needed, and to call anyway when the baby was born. I’d been outside quite a time and there was no call, though every­thing got quiet in the toldo. I went and asked if every­thing was all right and they said for me to come in.


I went in. The china was all right. I asked to see the babe and they showed it to me, pretty as any­thing, with blue eyes and white skin. It looked like a proper English baby. I was pleased to see it, but the more I looked, the more it seemed some­thing was wrong. It was so still. I touched it and it was already cold. They hadn’t let it live, though it was born all right.


They didn’t ever think it was right for a child not looking like one of them to grow up with them.


Jimmy also remem­bered a winter of such cold that men and animals per­ished: starved and stranded by the snow. It was 1904 and he was vis­it­ing the toldos. When after four days and nights the storm let up, there was seven feet of snow, and it stayed. A skunk came into the tent. They killed and ate it, and two more before the thaw came. ‘They tasted like good chicken. I’d rather eat skunk than lots of animals, like pumas; they’re awful.’ By late spring most of the horses had died of star­va­tion. They had first eaten each other’s tails and manes. ‘When I found them first the skin was almost rat­tling on their bones. I thought it a pity they couldn’t eat meat because there was dead sheep every­where, and men was wool-gathering, pluck­ing wool off dead sheep. This wool does not bring as high a price as clipped wool, but if well plucked, and if it has long staples, it helps a bit if your sheep get all killed.’


They travelled, in part to garner news, but also to feel the space of the pampa again after their confinement. The Megan Estancia of four­teen thou­sand sheep had one hundred and seventy-five alive. There were cir­cu­lar rings of dead horses where they had walked round and round trying to keep the ground clear, until one fell and stopped the clock for ever. There were some new and grim har­vests. Jimmy took four hundred skins from frozen gua­na­cos.


In later life he met Juana again. She had had enough of Montenegro and left him. She and Jimmy ran north and built a farm and a family. It had been a long road, but they were happy. Even here the English owners of much larger neigh­bour­ing farms tried to squeeze him out by bribing officials. Jimmy fought them, and won. They lived out their days there.


Old Chief Mulato was not so lucky. Local officials tried to cheat him out of his land and resell it to white farmers. He was now a relic of another way of life, but he still had the deeds to his ances­tral land. In 1905 he left for Santiago to fight for his land and prove his own­er­ship. Most of his family went with him. On the way home Mulato’s niece died of illness unex­pect­edly. His son came to fetch Jimmy. Soon after Jimmy arrived at the camp, Mulato’s wife died. Mulato himself died at mid­night, the son a few days later. In Santiago they had picked up another of the white man’s dis­eases, small­pox. Farmers took the land.








Rory Wilson





When I woke up on my first morning in Puerto San Julián, sun filled the streets. In the bright dining-room, two tables away, a tall blond man with a deep narrow chest spoke German to a woman with strong hand­some fea­tures and long black hair.


I had to find a boatman called Carlos Cendron to take me out to the island where Magellan and Drake held legal trials and exe­cuted noble com­pan­ions amid the burrows of Magellanic pen­guins. Near the beach I found a cor­ru­gated iron house freshly painted in warm pink, and a local woman leaning over a low picket fence, talking to the couple from the hotel.


‘I am looking for Carlos.’


The blond man lis­tened. ‘Are you English?’


‘Yes.’


He put his hand out. ‘Rory Wilson.’


I said, ‘You’re staying at the Bahía.’


‘There was someone new at break­fast! I never notice because I am always talking! This is Mandy who has to put up with me.’


‘But you were speak­ing German to each other – I am sorry – trav­el­ling alone makes me eaves­drop.’ The English are no sooner intro­duced than they start apol­o­gis­ing to each other.


‘Mandy’s German, we are both at the University of Kiel, we are doing penguin research all down the Argentinian coast. So what do you want Pinocho for?’


‘Pinocho?’


‘Everyone calls Carlos Pinocho.’


Out of the house came a man with a light fast frame and a lot of muscle. He ran his fingers through tight curly hair and put out his hand.


Rory added, ‘It means Pinocchio.’


I said, ‘Hello Carlos.’


‘We’re going to spend a day meas­ur­ing pen­guins and packing up our research site on one of the islands,’ Rory said. ‘Come with us if you want. On the way back Pinocho will take you to Execution Island – here they call it Isla de la Justicia.’


Carlos hitched an inflatable to the back of a 1962 American Ford pick-up. Rory and Mandy pulled me up into the truck. Ten minutes later the inflatable was in the water, Carlos gunned the out­board, the bow beneath me kicked, and we planed over the glass of the harbour. The bay was enclosed by low islands and shingle banks. More estuary than Atlantic. Dimples appeared to our left. ‘Commerson’s dol­phins,’ said Rory, ‘very rare. Very difficult to see them any­where else. They’re odon­to­ceti, toothed dol­phins, cousins to killer whales. Next to nothing known about them.’


One came round under the bow and blew out water in my face.


‘Lovely animal, five or six feet long, a lot of white, each pattern unique, very soci­able here.’


Commerson’s dol­phins were dis­cov­ered by the nat­u­ral­ist Philibert de Commerson who sailed with Bougainville on the first French circum­nav­i­ga­tion of the world of 1766–9. He took his valet Baré along. When they got to Tahiti the natives noticed what his col­leagues had not. Baré was a woman, Commerson’s mis­tress.


The dolphin under the bow swam with its back against the rubber. I left the camera in the bag, and the mini-disc recorder with it. I reached out and touched the back of a wild dolphin. Soft and smooth to the touch, neither fish nor flesh. It blew over my face again. Sun on my neck. Bliss.


The tide was ebbing. We came to shal­lows at the north end of the bay where the water drained, just inches deep, over narrows between island and shore. Carlos lifted the out­board and punted. We came over into deeper water and pulled up under a stilt house at the top of the beach.


‘Is this your house?’


‘My island.’


‘Do you live here during the summer?’


‘I come here a lot, three or four days a week if the weather’s good. I fish, fix a few things.’


‘Who else lives on the island?’


‘One hundred and thirty thou­sand Magellanic pen­guins.’


They lay on their backs like otters, rolling, frisk­ing, clean­ing. They swam slowly to shore and walked up the beach in lines. They stood around in groups of two or three dozen. We beached among sam­phire, and landed the gear.


The island is low, mostly thirty or forty feet high, and covered in scrub bushes. Penguins come here to burrow and nest, and every foot­step I took was within arm’s length of a nest burrow. Their ter­ri­to­rial call to intrud­ers is like a donkey’s bray. Their per­sonal call to iden­tify chicks and part­ners is a bray with vibrato.


In the hut Rory sorted equip­ment: stomach pump, bowl, scales. ‘They are remark­able birds, nesting every­where from Cape Horn to near Chiloé, way north up the Chilean coast.’


‘I know, I thought I was seeing things.’


‘There’s a penguin colony even further north nesting on the Atacama coast – the world’s driest desert.’


‘How long have you been research­ing these pen­guins?’


‘Penguins? Twelve years.’


‘What will this experi­ment tell you?’


‘It’s one of a chain down the Argentine coast. The seas along the east side of South America are less rich than the west. All along the Chilean coast the cool nutrient-rich Humboldt Current brings a con­veyor of food up from the Antarctic. The coastal shelf round here is not yet badly overfished but it will be. We need to know what they eat and what they need, and where they go for it.


‘We spend three weeks running north up the long coast from Cabo Virgenes, at the east entrance to the Magellan Strait, to Peninsula Valdes, where they film the whales.’


He clipped a harness round his waist, and picked up a board like a plasterer’s hawk, with a curve cut into one side. Mandy carried a blue plastic bowl, and an orange rubber tube with a bulb pump in it. Carlos studied a clip­board.


Rory out­lined the work. ‘We’ve got six pen­guins out there, each with a thou­sand pounds’ worth of track­ing equip­ment on its back. It’s our last day here, I’m hoping to get them all back.’ From a bag he took a deep green resin block the size and shape of macke­rel head. ‘We tape these to the back of the bird; they record the depth, speed and direc­tion of the birds. We down­load it into a com­puter and plot where they’ve been. We pump their stom­achs and we know what they’ve caught, and there’s our picture of their feeding needs. My own inven­tion,’ he said proudly, and held up the wooden board.


‘How are the chicks doing this year?’


He frowned. ‘Despite the numbers this isn’t the ideal place for them. Their pre­ferred food is fish; further north they get anchovy, here it’s sardine, but it’s not plen­ti­ful, so they have to take a lot of squid, which offers poorer nutri­tion and takes longer to digest. If the squid is not fed to the chick beak to beak, it will not even rec­og­nise it as food, and will let it lie on the floor of the nest. In this part of Patagonia it shouldn’t rain at all in December. But this year there was heavy rain. Water ran down the burrows and into the nests. The chicks’ down is absor­bent, they got wet, so they got cold and weakened. Some of the first chicks died, and most of the second chicks, which hatch two days later and are often weaker.’


He straight­ened his back and scanned the beach. ‘I think there’s one of ours now.’ The bird making its way across the hon­ey­comb of paths seemed to know it was being looked at, cocked an eye over its shoul­der, and ran off, doing a pre­sent­able Charlie Chaplin. Rory dis­ap­peared over a low ridge. There was a loud braying noise. He came back car­ry­ing a penguin.


He knelt on the ground with the bird upright between his thighs, clipped lines from his harness around each leg and held the back of its head. ‘Never hold the flippers or feet; they go berserk, and those beaks are like wire cutters. Imagine putting a Stanley knife on your finger and then putting a seven pound weight on the knife – that’s what they do to you. Most research­ers use gaunt­lets. It’s just not nec­es­sary if you know how to handle them. Of course no system is perfect.’ He held out a finger with a deep cut scored along one side. ‘That’s three weeks old, my own fault. Ever seen inside a penguin’s beak?’


I thought care­fully. ‘No.’


He prised it open with great difficulty. The inside was bril­liant pink and the roof of the mouth and the tongue were covered in large strong bris­tles point­ing down­wards. ‘They eat all their fish head first; these act against the scales, like Velcro. Last sight many fish see.’


Mandy passed him an orange tube like the ones on school Bunsen burners. He slid it down into the bird’s gullet.


‘How much does it dis­tress the bird?’


‘They puke a lot, nat­u­rally. They regur­gi­tate for chicks, and a lot of sea­birds actu­ally throw up food when attacked, to dis­tract pred­a­tors. For them it’s not a big deal. For us it would be hor­rible.’ Mandy pumped water down the tube, filling the stomach until water spilled from the beak. He whisked it upside down and spilled about a third of its catch into the bowl. The bird kept the rest. ‘Besides it’s a lot less stress­ful than the pre­vi­ous tech­nique.’


‘What was that?’


‘They hit them on the head and cut the stomach open.’


Rory set the bird down and released his grip. It shot away ten yards, drew itself up straight, and walked away with the rest of its catch to its waiting chick.


We poked about in the bowl and began to lay out fish-heads and squid in lines. ‘See what I mean about the squid? These fish have been in the gut the same length of time, and are half digested.’


I picked up the squid. ‘This is so fresh you could wash it and sell it.’


‘And that’s what it’s like for the chick: best part of a day longer to digest it, and poorer nutri­tion when it does.’ He pulled out a small green beak. ‘Squid beak, stay around in the stomach for months, can’t count these.’


A beau­ti­ful hawk came over. Excited, I pointed it out to Rory. ‘What is it?’


He glanced. ‘Don’t know, if it doesn’t go under­wa­ter and eat fish I’m not really inter­ested. Can’t help it. Hold this bird a moment.’ He gave me an adult. I took the back of its head and pulled it between my legs. It was a ball of muscle, like holding a Staffordshire bull terrier. It stayed per­fectly still.


‘You’ve got the hands,’ he said. I eyed the beak.


I left them, and went to photo­graph birds on the beach. There were black and Magellanic oys­ter­catch­ers; it is unusual for them to be in the same ter­ri­tory. The black ones had a scarlet bill, and orange-red eyelids, and the iris was a star­tling orange-yellow. Dominican gulls were nesting, and skuas harried the adults, trying to get at the chicks and eggs. I lay down in the pebbles and waited for them all to get used to me. I was too busy looking inland at the oys­ter­catch­ers to notice what was creep­ing up behind me. But when I rolled to face the sea, a group of two dozen pen­guins had left the water’s edge to come and stare at me. After a while, one would lean forward and, after suffering a minute of unbear­able inde­ci­sion, be over­come with curi­os­ity and take another couple of steps nearer. The others would follow, then stop, until the leader began to tremble and, unable to control himself, patter closer. In the end, I bawled out laugh­ing, and they scut­tled back to the water’s edge.


The wind sprang up and we went in the house to drink scald­ing maté. Rory scanned the bay. ‘There’s still a one thousand-pound penguin swim­ming around out there.’


Carlos said, ‘I’ll be out here fishing, I know which nest it belongs to, I’ll call by.’


We loaded the boat. I looked back at a seventh of a million pen­guins. ‘What’s the island called?’ I asked Rory.


‘We just call it the island. I don’t know if it has a local name.’


Carlos nodded. ‘It’s called Cormorant Island.’


I turned for a last look. A hare sat on the grassed beach top. A hawk stooped.


The inflatable took us across the bay. The evening was growing cold, but before we went back to the main­land I had to visit the place of exe­cu­tion which had brought me to Puerto San Julián, Isla de la Justicia, the Island of Justice.


The low bank lay further offshore than Cormorant Island. The highest point sus­tained just enough soil to nourish a few thin bushes. The rest was shingle, but it bustled with life: gulls and blue-eyed cor­mor­ants were crammed into nesting sites. Our boat bumped gently against the beach and Carlos killed the engine. Wavelets scrab­bled in the pebbles, the wind lifted the dove-grey feath­ers of the most beau­ti­ful of all gulls, the dolphin gull. On deep ver­mil­ion legs it walked up the beach, looking over its shoul­der at us. It picked its way onto grass whose roots curled around the bones of noble­men.


I thought about how this remote shingle islet had dogged Drake on his return when he was attacked by the friends and family of the well-connected man he tried here. It has been called not only the Island of Justice but also the Island of Blood. There was cer­tainly blood, but was it spilled in justice or revenge? When he came to his deci­sion to convict, and condemn, Thomas Doughty, Drake must have been obsessed by the only other com­mander who had ever trodden this land: Ferdinand Magellan.








Island of Blood





Here at Puerto San Julián, on this little island in the bay, nearly five hundred years ago, he and one of his cap­tains, Sebastian del Cano, came head to head, and Magellan showed what he was made of. When his flotilla arrived on the last day of March 1520 to rest his men and repair the boats, he had come too far to com­pro­mise his ambi­tion. The shingle banks may have shifted about in the half mil­len­nium which now inter­venes, but the overall scene would have been much the same. The low islands would have killed the power of the waves but offered no shelter from the cutting winds.


He had already sailed off real maps, in among the sea mon­sters which breached and spumed around their margins. The prep­ar­a­tion had been long and metic­u­lous. There would be no adven­ture like it until Yuri Gagarin went into space, but with Gagarin we knew what was await­ing. For Magellan, the leaving of this meagre harbour was a launch into a totally unknown cosmos.


Magellan had read in Aristotle that the south­ern hemi­sphere was a place where no men lived, but he found teeming vil­lages. This was the end of Aristotle. In fact Magellan didn’t find just men; he found giants, and so did sub­se­quent explor­ers, right up to the eight­eenth century. With Magellan was Antonio Pigafetta, a young noble­man from Vicenza accom­pa­ny­ing the Papal ambas­sa­dor to the expe­di­tion. He was an inqui­si­tive man and a tal­ented lin­guist.


But one day (without anyone expect­ing it) we saw a giant who was on the shore, quite naked, and who danced, leaped, and sang, and while he sang he threw sand and dust on his head. Our captain sent one of our men toward him, charg­ing him to leap and sing like the other in order to reas­sure him and show him friend­ship. Which he did. And when he was before us, he began to marvel and to be afraid, and he raised one finger upward, believ­ing that we came from heaven. And he was so tall that the tallest of us only came up to his waist.


However, any trouble the giants gave Magellan was nothing com­pared to what he brought with him. Within two days of arriv­ing at Puerto San Julián there was mutiny. There were men in Magellan’s fleet who out­ranked him socially and plotted against him, perhaps before the expe­di­tion had even sailed. On the morning of 2 April Magellan found three of his five boats were now in the control of four rebel officers, Juan Cartagena, Sebastián del Cano, Gaspar Quesada and Luis de Mendoza. Magellan rightly guessed Mendoza was the rin­gleader. He sent one boat with a mes­sen­ger to row in full view towards Mendoza’s ship, while a second boat came round behind and boarded it by stealth. Mendoza was stabbed to death, and the crew sur­ren­dered. A strong tide pulled another rebel ship from its anchors and under Magellan’s cannon. It was bom­barded, boarded and subdued. Cartagena and del Cano gave up.


Trials were held. To encour­age con­tri­tion, Magellan first had the body of Mendoza dis­em­bow­elled, cut in pieces and hung on a gibbet. Quesada was beheaded, dis­em­bow­elled, quar­tered and hung next to him. Cartagena had been directly appointed by the King, so Magellan put him ashore, with a trou­ble­some priest, giving them a small sack of biscuit and their swords. André Thevet’s 1584 biog­ra­phy of Magellan noted: ‘By these means, he sof­tened the others con­sid­er­ably.’


Sebastian del Cano and dozens of others found guilty were for­given. Magellan simply had too few men to execute all the guilty. By a macabre irony, the next visitor to this harbour on the world’s rim would enact another grim piece, a shadow theatre of Magellan’s own drama.








‘With Death or Other Ways’





Magellan’s suc­ces­sor in south­ern explo­ra­tion was Francis Drake. When, in 1577, he boarded the Pelican to begin his circum­nav­i­ga­tion, he was thirty-five years old, clear-headed, fiercely loyal to his family, and ambi­tious. In author­ity he was ruth­less, and had a knack of using his temper to advan­tage. He was not cruel or reck­less; in anger he never forgot what he wanted. When war broke out with Spain, Queen Elizabeth secretly took shares in Drake’s pro­posed raid to enter the South Sea through the Straits of Magellan and plunder Spain’s Pacific wealth. She made it very clear that Lord Burghley, who had under­mined similar pre­vi­ous pro­po­sals, must not know.


On board the Pelican was Thomas Doughty, one of a group of gen­tle­men sol­diers, a scholar and lin­guist, well edu­cated and well con­nected. He had used his influence to help the expe­di­tion gain favour, a point he liked to remark upon. In the begin­ning he had command of the land sol­diers. Drake was Admiral and overall com­mander, but he was not, in the eyes of a career cour­tier like Doughty, a gen­tle­man. It became clear that neither officer nor gen­tle­man could quite bring them­selves to defer to the other.


There are a number of accounts of the voyage; each one takes sides and makes errors, but it seems certain that Doughty was soon acknowl­edged as leader of the group of gen­tle­men, well con­nected, young, and with too little to do. In the Mary, Thomas Drake and Thomas Doughty accused each other of pil­fer­ing. Francis Drake went on board and lis­tened to two unsatis­fac­tory stories. To placate Doughty he for­mally made him captain of the gen­tle­men sol­diers on the Pelican.


Doughty thought the new job demanded a speech. He called the crew together.


My masters, I have some­what to say unto you. The General hath his author­ity from her high­ness the Queen’s majesty and her council such as hath not been com­mit­ted almost to any subject afore this time: to punish at his dis­cre­tion with death or other ways offenders; so he hath com­mit­ted the same author­ity to me in his absence to execute upon those which are mal­e­fac­tors.


This warrant would soon be invoked to secure a man’s destruc­tion. But not by Mr Doughty.


Doughty’s ship lost contact with the rest of the fleet, Drake sus­pected delib­er­ately, and bad weather closed in. Drake had had enough; he roamed the deck swear­ing Thomas Doughty had con­jured up the bad weather by sorcery. Magellan’s prob­lems had been real-life drama. Drake’s now became tragic and even, some­times, comic theatre. Doughty swore at Drake and was tied to the Pelican’s mast for two days. Released, he refused to go to another ship until Drake pre­pared a block and tackle, and threat­ened to unload him as cargo.


On the last day of June Drake sailed into the bay of Puerto San Julián to prepare boats and crew for the passage into the Pacific, as Magellan had fifty-eight years before. They met giants for a second time. Further north Francis Fletcher had said of them, they ‘showed us more kind­ness than many Christians would have done, nay more than I have for my own part found among many of my breth­ren of the min­is­try in the church of God.’ Drake gave the giants food and drink. Only once before had the giants seen men like these. Once out of bow-range, one Indian called out in rusty Portuguese, ‘Magellanes, Esta he minha terra’ – ‘Magellan, this is my country.’ A vain and ironically pro­phetic cry.


They found Magellan’s gibbet, a spruce mast, fallen over. The cooper took a piece from it back to camp and from it made souve­nir tank­ards to sell to his ship­mates. Digging in the shingle and sparse soil, they found the bones of Luis de Mendoza, Antonio de Coca and Gaspar Quesada. Drake knew the res­o­lute man who put them there was the only one whose expe­di­tion had suc­ceeded in passing through the Strait and reach­ing home. In the twenty years between Magellan’s success and Drake’s birth, twenty-one ships had tried to follow his course: twelve were wrecked on or near the Strait, and the rest foun­dered else­where, or retreated the way they had come. With those odds stacked against success, there was only one response to dissent.


There are two con­tem­po­rary accounts of the trial of Thomas Doughty at San Julián. One was written by Drake’s chap­lain, Francis Fletcher, who was cour­teous to Doughty, but his sym­pa­thy and loy­al­ties were with Drake. The other, by John Cooke, was hostile. His ship turned for home early, so, writing his version at a time when he thought Drake would not return, he pulled no punches. Looking back, he damned Puerto San Julián as a place where ‘will was law and reason put in exile’.


A chair was taken out to Isla de la Justicia and all the crews com­manded to attend. In the path of Drake’s mighty ambi­tion was Thomas Doughty and his sup­port­ers. A game of cat and mouse began. Eventually Doughty made a mortal blunder: name-dropping, he let slip that Lord Burghley knew of the voyage.


‘No,’ said Drake, ‘that he hath not.’


‘Indeed he hath.’


‘How?’


‘He had it from me.’


‘Lo, my masters, what hath this fellow done, for her Majesty gave me special com­mand­ment that of all men my Lord Treasurer should not know it, but to see his own mouth hath betrayed him.’


The jury found him guilty, and a game of manners fol­lowed. Drake asked Doughty, ‘Would you take to be exe­cuted in this land, or to be set on the main, or return to England, there to answer this deed before the Lords of her Majesty’s Council?’


Doughty thanked him for his clem­ency and asked to answer in the morning. Drake agreed.


Next dawn Doughty dis­missed the option of being marooned ‘among Infidels’. He also thought no man would accom­pany him home to England, so he asked to be exe­cuted. Drake offered him shoot­ing, which he would do himself, so Doughty would die at the hands of a gen­tle­man. He chose behead­ing.


The next day Chaplain Fletcher cel­e­brated com­mun­ion, then Drake and Doughty dined together. No account sug­gests it was not con­viv­ial. Doughty said he was ready for the exe­cu­tion but asked that he might ‘speak alone with him some words’. They walked alone along the shingle shore some seven or eight minutes; what they talked about no one knows. When they returned Doughty remarked ‘he that cuts off my head shall have little honesty, as my neck is so short’. He laid his head on the block. The axe fell. Drake had needed an argu­ment he would win; his text was Thomas Doughty’s head. Drake held it aloft: ‘Lo, this is the end of trai­tors.’


Digging a grave they found a grind­stone broken in two, and set one part at the head and the other at the foot.








Absent Millionaires





In the taxi office at Puerto San Julián I explained that I wanted to go north along the coast, then find Estancia Coronel, the site of a failed early colo­nial set­tle­ment. We nego­tiated, and I showed a map to the driver – unsha­ven, five feet nothing, black­out sun­glasses and a pack of Marlboro.


The boss came out, Marcello, thirty-ish with clear skin, a thin student beard, and hair brushed back, thin­ning without retreat­ing from the fore­head. We agreed a price. I held out a hand, ‘I’m John.’ He kept his hand in his pocket. The driver asked, from behind his shield of night, ‘So where are we going?’


An enor­mous expla­na­tion fol­lowed.


The driver nodded. ‘So I am going to take....’ I lost track of his Spanish.


‘No.’ Marcello bor­rowed my map. ‘You’re going...’ Another detailed itin­er­ary was launched.


‘Understand?’


‘Yes. I am going to go up to the top, straight on at the end of the main street...’


‘No.’ Marcello went into the back of the offices. The driver took me to the car, I threw my bag in the back seat. He said ‘No’. Perhaps No was the company motto. He asked me to sit in the front. Marcello appeared with Maxi, his six-year-old son. The driver smiled at me, ‘They are coming to show me the way.’ He was gen­u­inely pleased. At the end of the main street we turned right onto a dirt road and climbed through gentle hills of grasses and low bushes.
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